**RECEIVED**  
**May 15 2025**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
Workers' Compensation Commission

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001975

---

Troy Hinson, Claimant, ..... Appellant,

v.

Merrill Gardens, LLC, Employer, and  
Church Mutual Insurance Company, Carrier, ..... Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Stephen B. Samuels  
SC Bar 15394  
SAMUELS REYNOLDS LAW FIRM, LLC  
1320 Richland St.  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 779-4000  
stephen@samuelsreynolds.com

Attorney for Appellant

**

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Single Commissioner erred as a matter of law by denying Appellant's claim for temporary total disability compensation in that it failed to follow the binding precedent of Cranford v. Hutchinson Construction and Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture along with failing to follow Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, all of which show that on the procedural and substantive law governing this case Appellant was entitled to be paid compensation following Employer's withdrawal of light duty work.
2. Whether the Commission erred as a matter of law in finding Hinson was legitimately terminated for cause when the alleged misconduct occurred before he was taken out of work for surgery and the termination was a calculated conspiracy by upper management including the workers' compensation representative to bring him back to work and terminate him to evade payment of TTD.
3. Whether the Commission erred as a matter of law in failing to find Hinson remained disabled when he was under a 5-pound restrictions which disqualified him from all employment, such that his inability to work was due to his injury and not due to the termination of his employment.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Decision and Order of the Workers' Compensation Commission.

Appellant Troy Hinson was employed as the maintenance director for Merrill Gardens, an assisted living facility in Columbia, South Carolina. Hinson injured himself on July 29, 2021. After a brief period out of work during which temporary total disability compensation (TTD) was paid, Merrill Gardens brought him back to work on December 22, 2021, under a 5-pound lifting restriction. Merrill Gardens then fired Hinson on January 25, 2022.

The Carrier filed a Form 15 (Section II) terminating compensation on January 4, 2022 terminating compensation effective December 19, 2021. [R.P. 44]. Hinson filed a Form 15 (Section III) hearing request on February 8, 2022. [R.P. 44].

The case was tried before Commissioner Gene McCaskill on April 15, 2022. In a Decision and Order dated January 31, 2024, Commissioner McCaskill held Claimant Troy Hinson sustained a compensable injury to his lumbar spine and developed an inguinal hernia. He further held Hinson "is not entitled to temporary total disability payments from the date of his termination, of January 25, 2022, and ongoing pursuant to *S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260.*" [R.P. 21].

Hinson timely filed a Form 30 (Notice of Appeal) on January 29, 2024. [R.P. 32].

Oral argument before the Appellate Panel was heard on August 26, 2024. The Appellate Panel issued a Decision and Order affirming the Single Commissioner on November 1, 2024. [R.P. 22-43].

This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Troy Hinson was employed as the maintenance director at Merrill Gardens, an assisted living facility in Columbia. Hinson was hired on June 8, 2021.

On July 29, 2021, Hinson injured his back (with radiculopathy), both hips and abdomen/groin (hernia) pushing a full industrial trash compactor up a ramp. His claim was accepted and treatment was provided. Hinson continued to work under light duty, although was paid temporary total disability compensation [TTD] from July 29-August 2, 2021 and August 13-23, 2021.

Hinson went back on TTD when underwent surgery for his hernia on October 29, 2021. [R.P. 198]. On November 18, 2021, Dr. Moffat allowed Hinson to return to light duty lifting no more than 15 pounds. The restriction was to be in place for 6-weeks (through December 30, 2021). [R.P. 161].

For his back, Hinson treated with Dr. O'Leary from September 10, 2021 through January 10, 2022. He was initially placed on restrictions of no pushing, pulling, lifting or carrying over 10 pounds with no kneeling, squatting, crawling or climbing. [R.P. 153-154]. On November 1, 2021, Dr. O'Leary wrote Hinson completely out of work. [R.P. 163].

On December 13, 2021, Dr. O'Leary put Hinson on a 5-pound pushing, pulling, lifting and carrying limit along with prohibiting twisting and stretching. [R.P. 171].

Upon receiving Dr. O'Leary's report with the 5-pound lifting restrictions, the workers' compensation representative along with Merrill Gardens' vice-president of operations and human resources director contacted the Dougal Kear, the new general manager of Merrill Gardens. They instructed him to bring Hinson back to work.[R.P. 460, lines 11-18; p. 467, lines 16-21].

Kear wrote a form letter to Hinson dated December 20, 2021. The form detailed the restrictions. [R.P. 345]. Defense counsel emailed the letter to Claimant's counsel, prompting an

exchange of emails between the attorneys. Claimant's counsel requested a job description. On December 22, 2021, he wrote an email to Defense counsel stating:

Hi Mark,

What exactly will Troy be doing that benefits the employer?

There are no actual jobs within this restriction. We don't want him put in a punitive or retaliatory position.

Defense counsel provided the job description on December 22, 2021. The job was classified as *VERY HEAVY* with the following physical demands:



**PHYSICAL DEMANDS**

The physical demands and work environment described below represent the activities and surroundings of the position:

- Must be able to lift up to 60 lbs. on a frequent basis and 100 lbs. on an occasional basis, push/pull up to 40lbs., carry up to 30 lbs. for up to 100 yards, and constantly stand and walk.
- Must be physically able to climb stairs and ladders. Must be able to climb on top of and walk on a roof.
- Must be able to work within crawl spaces.
- This job requires occasional stooping, bending, twisting, crouching, kneeling and crawling.
- Specific vision abilities required by this job are close, distance, color and peripheral vision; depth perception; and the ability to adjust focus.
- This position is frequently required to communicate with clients and Team Members through talking and listening.
- While performing the duties of this job, the employee is regularly required to see, hear, and use hands to handle and feel. Specific vision abilities required by this job include close vision and color vision.
- Able to smell as necessary to discern resident's needs and building emergencies.
- Physically able to handle, grasp, and reach throughout the workday.

[R.P. 256-269].

Hinson accepted the offer and duly reported for work on December 22, 2021. As detailed more fully in the argument, various issues arose concerning Hinson's inability to meet full-time hours due to his medical and physical therapy appointments, inability to physically perform all the tasks required of him, an incident where he called in an outside painting contractor to repaint an

apartment, and allegations by Dougal Kerr of insubordination and a lack of communication.<sup>1</sup>

On January 4, 2022, the adjuster filed a Form 15 (Section II) terminating TTD on the grounds that “Claimant has been released to return to work at limited duty and employer has provided limited duty work with the terms upon which the Employee has been released.” [R.P. 44]. Note this is incorrect, as Hinson actually returned to work. This section of the Form 15 applies to terminating TTD when the employee refuses limited duty work.

On January 12, 2022, Claimant’s counsel sent another email to Defense counsel:

Hi Mark.

Troy Hinson called me this morning. Apparently his boss has told him he needs to go on disability because he cannot do the work that needs to be done.

I think the problem is that Troy is on work restrictions which preclude him from working as the maintenance man for the apartment complex. In short, there is no economic benefit to the employer by having him there given his restrictions.

Would you please call me? I don't want Troy to get fired over this (not that he has given me any expectation that is actually going to happen) and end up in a battle over TTD. Seems as if the employer doesn't really have work within his restrictions, then he needs to go back on TTD.

Thoughts? Can you call me about this? Thanks.  
[R.P. 268].

At some point – probably at the same time they brought him back to work – Merrill Gardens upper management decided to terminate Hinson’s employment. Per Dougal Kear, the decision was made by “A combination of *our Workers’ Comp rep*, my vice president of operations. Our HR of our home office made that decision.” [R.P. 460, lines 11-18 (emphasis added); p. 467, lines 16-21].

---

<sup>1</sup>Hinson testified that this was because he was at authorized physical therapy and doctor’s appointments. Kear admitted he “found out later that the reason [he] couldn’t reach him is because he’s at the doctor appointments.” [R.P. 461].

Following the instructions from upper management. Kear wrote a letter of termination to Hinson stating: “. . . we made the decision to end your employment with us effective today 1/25/22.” [R.P. 270]. Kear presented the letter to Hinson shortly after he reported to work on January 25, 2022. At the meeting, Kear explained the purported reasons for the termination. The testimony of Kear and Hinson is detailed at *infra* pages 16-20.

Later that afternoon, Claimant's counsel emailed Defense counsel stating:

Good afternoon Mark.

Your client terminated Troy's employment this morning. As you know, I had previously expressed concerns over the fact he is physically unable to do the work and was concerned that they might fire him. They have now done so.

Would you please confirm for me that TTD will be restarted effective today?

Respondents refused to restart TTD. Hinson filed the Form 15 (Section III) on February 8, 2022. [R.P. 44].

Hinson returned to Dr. Moffat on January 26, 2022 reporting an aggravation of the hernia. Dr. Moffat ordered an injection – which was denied by Defendants. He wrote “it does not seem advisable for him to return to a maintenance type job with manual labor given his symptoms and its impact on his quality of life.” [R.P. 228-229].

After several injections and physical therapy failed to provide relief, Dr. O’Leary referred Hinson to Dr. LaMotta for a surgical evaluation. [R.P. 169]. On March 16, 2022, Dr. LaMotta opined he was not a surgical candidate, instead referring him for chronic pain management (denied by Defendants). Dr. LaMotta placed Hinson on permanent restrictions of of no pushing, pulling, lifting or carrying over 15 pounds with no kneeling, squatting, crawling, twisting or work at heights.”

[R.P. 243-249].

The case was tried before Commissioner McCaskill on April 25, 2022. On January 31, 2024, Commissioner McCaskill issued an Decision and Order. He held (1) Defendants did not improperly stop TTD benefits; (2) Claimant is not entitled to temporary total disability payments from the date of termination, of January 25, 2022, and ongoing pursuant to *S.C. Code. Ann.* § 42-9-260; and (3) the 25% penalty pursuant to *S.C. Code. Ann.* § 42-9-260(g) is not applicable and not assessed. [R.P. 21].

This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court may reverse or modify the Commission's decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are affected by other error of law. Broughton v. South of the Border, 336 S.C. 488, 520 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 1999). Upon a proper appeal under the Worker's Compensation Act when only a question of law is involved, the facts having been concluded by the finding of the Commission, the appellate court as to review and correction of errors has plenary powers. Jolly v. Atlantic Greyhound Corp. 207 S.C. 1, 35 S.E.2d 42 (1945).

The evidence will ordinarily be regarded as sufficient where the circumstances shown tend to establish the ultimate facts in issue and provide a basis from which they reasonably may be inferred. An award cannot, however, be based upon mere possibilities, probabilities, surmises or conjectures. Broughton v. South Carolina Game and Fish Dept., 219 S.C. 50, 64 S.E.2d 152 (1951). The substantial evidence rule, prescribed in the statute, means the appellate court will not overturn a finding of fact by an administrative agency unless there is no reasonable probability that the facts could be as related by a witness upon whose testimony the finding was based. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276, S.E.2d 304 (1981). However, when only one reasonable inference can be deduced from the evidence, it becomes a question of law for the courts. Kinsey v. Champion American Service Center, 268 S.C. 177, 232 S.E.2d 720 (1977). The Commission must consider all the evidence in the record when developing its findings of fact. Hendricks v. Pickens County, 335 S.C. 405, 517 S.E.2d 698 (Ct. App.1999).

“It is true that the Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact-finder and does not have to accept even uncontradicted evidence. In this sense, the factual decisions of the Appellate Panel may appear to be akin to those implicit in a jury's verdict, which appellate courts may not generally disturb as long

as the verdict can be reconciled with any evidence reasonably supporting it. But the decisions of administrative agencies, such as the Appellate Panel, are different from jury verdicts in several important respects. One difference is that juries need not explain the reasoning behind their decisions, while the Appellate Panel must. Another difference is that the Appellate Panel's decisions cannot stand if they cross the line drawn by § 1-23-380. Unlike a jury verdict, the Appellate Panel's factual decisions may be reversed if they are arbitrary or clearly wrong, which they are here.” Russell v. Wal-Mart, Op. No. 28258 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan. 29, 2025) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 5 at 18).

## ARGUMENT

### **1. The Commission made an error of law in failing to award TTD based on the binding precedent of *Cranford* and *Grayson*.**

The Appellate Panel held this case fell under the rubric of Pollack v. Southern Wine & Spirits of America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013). It held “[w]e find that Claimant was terminated for cause and, as such, is not entitled to payment of TTD.” [R.P. 38, Finding of Fact 52; p. 40, Conclusion of Law 3]. This ruling is error as this case is controlled by Cranford v. Hutchinson Constr., 399 S.C. 65, 731 S.E.2d 303 (Ct. App. 2012)(temporary total disability compensation should have awarded as a matter of law because employee was not at MMI and had never been released to work without restrictions). Despite Cranford being argued before both the Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel, the Commission completely ignored this binding case law in its analysis.

Pollack and Cranford deal with different fact patterns. In Pollack, the employee suffered an admittedly compensable back injury and was put on a 15-pound lifting restriction. Because he was a supervisor, he was able to work his regular job with accommodations for the restrictions. He was ultimately fired for failing to report an accident causing property damage to one of the employer’s delivery trucks. The supreme court affirmed the Commission’s finding that an employee who is terminated for cause while working light duty – “*who never received TTD benefits*” – is barred from receiving TTD under the rationale that his inability to work is due to his own misconduct rather than his injury. Pollack v. Southern Wine & Spirits of Am., 405 S.C. 9, 16, 747 S.E.2d 430, 434 (2013)

In Cranford, the employee also suffered an admitted back injury. He was out of work for three weeks, during which time his employer paid him \$265.00 per week in lieu of TTD. He returned to work on light duty but then was terminated eighteen days later for “being unsafe on the job site.” The employer refused to pay TTD arguing Cranford was terminated for cause. The

Commission agreed and denied Cranford's claim for TTD. On appeal, this Court held TTD had to be paid because he was still under work restrictions and had not reached MMI.

The distinction between Pollack and Cranford is that Pollack had never been disabled.<sup>2</sup> He lost no time from work because the employer was always able to accommodate his restrictions. As no TTD was paid, Pollack was never presumed disabled and never came under the protections of § 42-9-260. Conversely, Cranford had been disabled and received salary in lieu of TTD before returning to work. His situation was controlled by the statute and regulations governing payment, suspension and termination of TTD. Indeed, the Pollack court observed that "It is undisputed that Appellant, **who never received TTD benefits**, was accommodated by Respondent within his light duty work restrictions." Pollack v. Southern Wine & Spirits of America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013)(emphasis added). Because Hinson had been paid TTD (like Cranford and Grayson), he was deemed to be disabled and thus received protections unavailable to Pollack.<sup>3</sup> See, also Davis v. Unihealth Post Acute Care, 402 S.C. 541, 741 S.E.2d 770 (Ct. App. 2013)("After UniHealth terminated that employment, its own agreement that she was disabled and its refusal to provide alternative employment required UniHealth to pay her temporary total compensation until the payments could be properly terminated.").

Cranford exactly followed our supreme court's earlier decision in Grayson v. Carter Rhoad

---

<sup>2</sup>Pollack, Cranford and Grayson are all good law. Although Pollack came out one year after Cranford, the court never mentioned, let alone overruled, Cranford and Grayson. Furthermore, because Cranford followed Grayson it was not implicitly overruled by a higher court.

<sup>3</sup>To be clear, the issue here is not whether the employer could legally terminate Hinson's employment. The issue is whether Hinson is entitled to an additional period of TTD because the employer stopped providing employment within his restrictions and refused to restart TTD.

Furniture, 312 S.C. 250, 439 S.E.2d 859 (Ct.App.1993), *aff'd as modified by* Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture, 317 S.C. 306, 454 S.E.2d 320 (1995). In Grayson, “[t]he supreme court held that because Grayson was released with work restrictions, there was in reality *no* evidence that Grayson’s period of temporary total disability ever ended prior to his firing. Because Grayson’s benefits were never properly terminated in accordance with Regulation 67-504, Grayson was entitled to have his benefits reinstated retroactively.” Cranford at 75-76, 731 S.E.2d 308). Accord, Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, 369 S.C. 278, 631 S.E.2d 547 (Ct. App. 2006)(holding procedures to suspend or terminate temporary compensation require strict compliance).

Strikingly, the facts of these two cases are virtually identical to the facts in this case, As explained by this Court in Cranford:

Like Grayson, Cranford was injured while working for his employer and was paid temporary compensation while out of work. Grayson was released to work with the instructions to “be somewhat careful with lifting.” Similarly, Cranford’s discharge report from Conway Medical Center instructed Cranford to refrain from “heavy lifting” and “strenuous activity.” In addition, Dr. Ellis, the attending surgeon at Conway Medical Center, instructed Cranford to “take it easy.” No other physician treated Cranford prior to him returning to work; thus, as in Grayson, there is no other evidence in the record Cranford was released to work without restriction.

Both employers terminated their employees shortly after the employees returned to work while the employees were still under work restrictions. Grayson was fired for not having a driver’s license and Cranford was fired for being unsafe on the job site. Both terminations occurred approximately three weeks after returning to work. Prior to the firing, Grayson signed a Form 17, agreeing he was able to return to work. Cranford, on the other hand, never signed a Form 17, but instead had his benefits unilaterally terminated on the grounds that he had “returned to work at least 15 days and no temporary partial compensation [wa]s due.”

While Regulation 67–504 was amended in 1997, under the prior and amended version, Hutchinson’s firing of Cranford after the fifteen-day window would still require Hutchinson to pay temporary disability unless: (1) a physician determines Cranford is able to “return to work without restriction”; OR (2) A PHYSICIAN determines Cranford has reached Maximum medical improvement such that permanent disability benefits, as opposed to temporary benefits, should be awarded if warranted. See Smith v. S.C. Dep’t. of Mental Health, 335 S.C. 396, 399, 517

S.E.2d 694, 695–96 (1999) (“Clearly, if an employee has reached MMI and remains disabled, then his injury is permanent. This is precisely the reason to terminate temporary benefits in favor of permanent benefits upon a finding of MMI.”). Cranford v. Hutchinson Constr., 399 S.C. 65, 731 S.E.2d 303 (Ct. App. 2012).

In the instant case, it is undisputed that Hinson was (1) under a 5-pound lifting restriction thus “unable to work without restriction;” (2) not at MMI; (3) previously received TTD; and (4) was terminated shortly after returning to work. This fact pattern matches the facts of Cranford and Grayson; not Pollack.

It should also be noted that after his termination Hinson continued to receive medical treatment. Dr. Mattei wrote him completely out of work on February 4, 2022. [R.P. 149]. At that point, there were no restrictions to accommodate. Hinson had gone from partially disabled to totally disabled.

Further support for reversing the Commission comes from the procedural violations associated with the Form 15 (Section II). The Employer filed a Form 15 ostensibly terminating temporary compensation because “Claimant has been released to work at a limited duty and employer has provided limited duty work consistent with the terms upon which the Employee has been released.” [R.P. 44].

As this Court explained in Martin v. Rapid Plumbing:

The rationale given by Rapid Plumbing is only applicable when suitable employment is offered but not accepted. See S.C.Code Ann. § 42-9-190 (1985) (“If an injured employee refuses employment procured for him suitable to his capacity and approved by the Commission he shall not be entitled to any compensation at any time during the continuance of such refusal.”). Thus, had Martin refused to return to work, Rapid Plumbing would have had legal justification to terminate his temporary compensation. Because Martin willingly returned to work, but was unable to continue work after one day, the reason given by Rapid Plumbing did not apply.

Even if Rapid Plumbing could have stopped temporary total disability benefits, it failed to follow the proper procedure for doing so as outlined by section 42-9-260 and regulation 67-504. Rapid Plumbing terminated the compensation on August 10,

2002, but failed to file and serve the Form 15 until at least August 28, 2002, and failed to attach the supporting documentation as required by section 42-9-260. These deficiencies are not mere technicalities, but are substantial deviations from the statutory procedure. The circuit court was correct in finding Rapid Plumbing wrongfully terminated temporary benefits.

Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, 369 S.C. 278, 631 S.E.2d 547 (Ct. App. 2006)(holding 18 day delay in filing Form 15 and failure to attach documentation were substantial procedural deviations requiring imposition of mandatory 25% penalty).

As the Form 15 in the instant case did not comply with the statute, it was ineffective as a matter of law. Moreover, even if it were deemed to be effective, it merely suspended Hinson's temporary compensation for the period when he returned to work. His right to temporary compensation was never legally terminated. See 25A S.C Code Ann. Reg. 67-510 (2007)(providing for additional compensation or penalty for unauthorized suspension of temporary compensation benefits). It was legal error of the Commission to hold "Defendants did not illegally suspend or terminate TTD benefits." [R.P. 40-41, conclusions of law 4, 6].

In Martin, this Court reversed the Commission's denial of temporary compensation on the above grounds. The Court should follow Martin and hold that Hinson's temporary compensation was never legally terminated such that Hinson would be entitled to receive ongoing temporary compensation plus a mandatory 25% penalty.

The Commission committed multiple errors of law under Martin, Cranford, and Grayson. Therefore, the decision below should be reversed. This case should be remanded to the Commission with instructions to award temporary compensation to Appellant.

**2. Even if Pollack is the controlling authority in this case, the Court should find that Hinson was not legitimately terminated for misconduct occurring while he was on accommodated duty and award him TTD on a running award from January 25, 2022.**

The Pollack court instructed the Commission that “an employer’s denial of TTD benefits must be “scrutinized carefully . . . remaining sensitive to an employer’s possible motivation to ‘look for’ a reason to fire an injured worker.” Pollack v. Southern Wine & Spirits of America, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013). A closer look at the evidence shows that Merrill Gardens brought Hinson back to a job he could not do with the intent of terminating him for cause (largely based on alleged past transgressions) to avoid liability for TTD.

The job of Maintenance Director has specific physical demand requirements::

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