RECEIVED

Jun 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No. 2024-001975

Troy Hinson, Claimant,..... Appellant,

v.

Merrill Gardens, LLC, Employer, and
Church Mutual Insurance Company, Carrier,..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

McANGUS, GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Mark Davis
Post Office Box 650007
735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29465
(843) 576-2900
mdavis@mgclaw.com

Jeffrey Kuykendal
Post Office Box 30307
6302 Fairview Road, Suite 700
Charlotte, North Carolina 28226
(704) 643-6303
jeffrey.kuykendal@mgclaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant makes two essential arguments. First, he argues that the single commissioner and the full commission erred as a matter of law by applying the *Pollack* case instead of *Cranford v. Hutchinson Constr.*, 399 S.C. 65, 731 S.E.2d 303 (Ct. App. 2012) and *Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture*, 317 S.C. 306, 454 S.E.2d 320 (1996). Second, he argues that the single commissioner and the full commission should have reached a different factual determination based on the evidence surrounding Appellant's termination for cause from Employer. For the reasons stated below, Appellant's arguments fail.

A. The Single Commissioner and the Full Commission did not Err as a Matter of Law.

There was no error of law as *Cranford* and *Grayson* address the question of whether temporary total disability benefits were properly suspended or terminated pursuant to the applicable regulations and statutes. Whereas, *Pollack* addresses the question of whether temporary total disability benefits must be started when an employee is terminated for cause. Thus, the analysis of *Pollack* by the single commissioner and the full commission was appropriate in this case.

Not only is the issue in this appeal more appropriately addressed by *Pollack*, the decisions in *Cranford* and *Grayson* are inapplicable as they are based on a subsequently amended regulation. *Cranford* and *Grayson* involve the suspension or termination of temporary total disability benefits based on S.C. Code Ann. Vol. 25-A, Worker's Compensation Regulation 67-504 ("Reg. 67-504"). However, since the decisions in *Cranford* and *Grayson* Reg. 67-504 has been amended. In both *Cranford* and *Grayson*, Reg. 67-504 required the employer to pay temporary total disability benefits unless (1) the employee was able to "return to work without restrictions;" or (2) the employee had reached maximum medical improvement such that he was

entitled to permanent disability benefits.¹ See *Cranford*, 399 S.C. at 75, 731 S.E.2d at 308-309; *Grayson*, 317 S.C. at 309, 454 S.E.2d at 322. As neither employee in either case had reached maximum medical improvement or were released to “work without restrictions” the Court held in both cases the employer was required to pay temporary total disability benefits to the employee because those benefits were never properly terminated. See *id.*

Reg. 67-504 now provides “[t]he employer’s representative may terminate or suspend temporary compensation during the first one hundred fifty days after the employer received notice of the injury pursuant to Section 42-9-260. When compensation is terminated or suspended, the employer’s representative shall complete Section I and Section II of the Form 15, Temporary Compensation Report.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260(B) provides: “[o]nce temporary disability payments are commenced, the payments may be terminated or suspended immediately at any time within the one hundred fifty days if:...(5) the employee has been released by the treating physician to limited duty work and the employer provides limited duty work consistent with the terms upon which the employee has been released.” Put simply, the law has changed since *Cranford* and *Grayson*, so that temporary total disability benefits can be terminated or suspended even if an employee returns to work “with restrictions.”²

In this case, it is undisputed that Respondents provided a Form 15 suspending Appellant’s temporary total disability benefits based on the provision of limited duty work. Further, the facts support, and the single commissioner and the full commission found, Employer

¹ Reg. 67-504 provided “[w]hen the claimant reaches maximum medical improvement and the authorized health care provider reports the claimant is able to return to work without restriction to the same job or other suitable job, and such a job is provided by the employer, or the claimant agrees he or she is able to return to work without restriction, the employer’s representative may suspend compensation benefits by complying with section D below.” See *Cranford*, 399 S.C. at 75 n.2, 731 S.E.2d at 308 n.2.

² Appellant’s reliance on *Martin v. Rapid Plumbing*, 369 S.C. 278, 631 S.E.2d 547 (2006) is equally misplaced as the employee in that case returned to work without restrictions pursuant to § 42-9-260(B)(1), but did not “remain at work for a minimum of fifteen days.” Thus, termination of his temporary total disability benefits was improper. See *id.* at 289, 631 S.E.2d at 553. Here, Appellant returned to work pursuant to § 42-9-260(B)(5), which does not require presence at work for fifteen days. Regardless, even if it did, Appellant returned for more than fifteen days.

provided limited duty work consistent with the terms upon which Appellant had been released. Accordingly, Appellant's temporary total disability benefits were properly terminated when he returned to Employer in December 2021.

Thus, as his temporary total disability benefits were properly terminated, the relevant issue is whether Appellant was entitled to have temporary total disability benefits restarted as a result of his termination from Employer. An employee's entitlement to temporary total disability payments requires that he is "out of work **due to** a reported work-related injury." *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260(A) (emphasis added). Thus, if an employee, who suffered a compensable injury, is terminated for cause, the employee is not entitled to temporary total disability payments. *See Pollack*, 405 S.C. at 15-16, 747 S.E.2d at 433-434.

In *Pollack*, an employee suffered an admitted injury to his back and returned to work as a drivers' supervisor with restrictions. *See id.* at 11, 747 S.E.2d at 431. While the employee was investigating an accident involving a driver, he hit the side of another vehicle leaving only "a line of dirt on the vehicle" and no real property damage. *See id.* at 12, 747 S.E.2d at 431-432. The employee did not report his own minor accident in violation of the employer's policy. *See id.* at 12, 747 S.E.2d at 432. The employee was suspended, but reinstated by his local superiors, only to be terminated by the corporate office just over two months after having returned from injury. *See id.*

Thereafter, the employee filed a claim for temporary total disability. *See id.* The employer testified that, but for the employee's violation of the company policy in failing to report his accident, the employee would have continued to work with his restrictions. *See id.* at 13, 747 S.E.2d at 432. The hearing commissioner and the full commission found the employee was not entitled to temporary total disability because he was terminated for cause. *See id.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court held that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 provides that temporary total disability may begin when “an employee has been out of work *due to* a reported work-related injury...for eight days[.]...” *See id.* at 14, 747 S.E.2d at 433 (emphasis in original). The Court continued that when an employer offers suitable employment within the injured employee’s restrictions, entitlement to temporary total disability benefits is based on whether the employee’s inability to earn wages was the result of a work-related injury or termination for cause. *See id.* at 15-16, 747 S.E.2d at 433-434.

Here, like the employee in *Pollack*, Appellant suffered a compensable injury and returned to work in his same role with restrictions. While working in that role, Appellant was terminated for cause. As discussed below, Appellant’s termination was justified, and was certainly not so capricious for this Court to overturn the unanimous decisions of the single commissioner and the full commission. Accordingly, the single commissioner and the full commission, by evaluating Appellant’s claim for temporary total disability benefits based on the precedent stated in *Pollack*, did not err as a matter of law.

B. The Single Commissioner and Full Commission Made the Correct Factual Determination.

Appellant has a heavy burden to convince this Court that the unanimous decisions of the single commissioner and the full commission were not supported by substantial evidence and were unreasonable. “This Court will not overturn a decision by the Commission unless the determination is unsupported by substantial evidence.” *Jones*, 355 S.C. at 416, 586 S.E.2d at 113 *citing Lark*, 276 S.C. at 136, 276 S.E.2d at 307. “Substantial evidence is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached to justify its action.” *Id.* at 417, 586 S.E.2d at 113 *quoting Howell v. Pacific Columbia Mills*, 291 S.C. 469, 471, 354 S.E.2d 384, 385 (1987).

As the South Carolina Supreme Court noted in *Pollack*, a determination of whether an employee was terminated “due to or because of” an injury or for cause “is a quintessential factual question for the fact-finder, the Commission.” *See Pollack*, 405 S.C. at 15-16, 747 S.E.2d at 433. Thus, the Supreme Court in that case, and this Court in this case, “is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the Commission’s finding that Appellant’s inability to earn wages was a result of his termination for cause, not his work-related injury.” *See id.* at 16, 747 S.E.2d at 434.

While Appellant’s Initial Brief is full of rhetorical questions, speculation and conspiracies concerning Employer’s allegedly improper motives for terminating Appellant, there is no evidence to back them up. The primary thing Appellant relies on is the advertised description for the job of a maintenance director noting various lifting requirements that would have exceeded Appellant’s restrictions. However, Appellant ignores that in his job offer, and in practice, his responsibilities were limited to those duties that were within his restrictions. R pp 345, 407-408, 426 & 441-442.

Moreover, Appellant points to the involvement of management and workers’ compensation representatives in the decision to terminate Appellant as evidence of an improper motive. While ensuring a personnel decision does not violate the applicable law does not seem to point to a nefarious plot and is what occurred in *Pollack*, it is clear both the single commissioner and the full commission were sensitive to the possibility that Employer terminated Appellant as a mere pretext to end temporary total disability benefits, as alleged by Appellant. R pp 18-19 & 30. They found, with the single commissioner having the benefit of observing the witnesses, based on the totality of the evidence that Employer was justified in terminating Appellant for cause. R pp 18-19 & 30.

Moreover, there is substantial evidence Appellant was terminated for cause. Employer, through its general manager Mr. Kear, emphatically noted that Appellant's termination had nothing to do with his injury and that if he had not been terminated for cause, he would still be able to accommodate his light-duty work restrictions.³ Appellant himself admitted he made mistakes in his job and acknowledged that others performed work that exceeded his restrictions. Mr. Kear detailed the multitude of reasons why Appellant was terminated, including poor performance, insubordination and absenteeism. Ultimately, based on the "greater weight of the evidence," both the single commissioner and the full commission unanimously found Appellant was terminated for cause. Therefore, there is no basis for this Court to overturn the factual determinations of the single commissioner or the full commission.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should affirm the decisions of the single commissioner and the full commission.

³ Appellant's arguments that he was "incapable of obtaining any job" is belied by the fact that he worked for Employer and noted himself that had he not been terminated he was able to continue to work light duty for Employer. R p 428.

May 16, 2025